



The effect of COVID-19 control measures on smallholder pig-keeping households in Uganda, analysed through a gender lens

Karen Marshall¹, Getinet Tarakegn² and Emily Ouma³

December 2022

¹ International Livestock Research Institute, Kenya

².Independent consultant

³-International Livestock Research Institute, c/o Bioversity International P.O Box 24384, Kampala Uganda

ILRI thanks all donors and organizations which globally supports its work through their contributions to the CGIAR Trust Fund

This publication is copyrighted by the International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI). It is licensed for use under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International Licence. To view this licence, visit https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0. Unless otherwise noted, you are free to share (copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format), adapt (remix, transform, and build upon the material) for any purpose, even commercially, under the following conditions:

ATTRIBUTION. The work must be attributed, but not in any way that suggests endorsement by ILRI or the author(s).

NOTICE:

For any reuse or distribution, the licence terms of this work must be made clear to others.

Any of the above conditions can be waived if permission is obtained from the copyright holder.

Nothing in this licence impairs or restricts the author's moral rights.

Fair dealing and other rights are in no way affected by the above.

The parts used must not misrepresent the meaning of the publication.

ILRI would appreciate being sent a copy of any materials in which text, photos etc. have been used.

Editing, design and layout—ILRI Editorial and Publishing Services, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia.

Cover photo—ILRI/K. Dhanji

ISBN: 92-9146-750-2

Citation: Marshall K., Tarakegn, G. and Ouma, E. 2022. The effect of COVID-19 control measures on smallholder pig-keeping households in Uganda, analysed through a gender lens. ILRI Research Report 110. Nairobi, Kenya: ILRI.

Patron: Professor Peter C. Doherty A. C, FAA, FRS
Animal scientist, Nobel Prize Laureate for Physiology or Medicine–1996

Box 30709, Nairobi 00100 Kenya Phone +254 20 422 3000 Fax+254 20 422 3001 Email ilri-kenya@cgiar.org ilri.org
better lives through livestock

ILRI is a CGIAR research centre

Box 5689, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Phone +251 11 617 2000 Fax +251 11 667 6923 Email ilri-ethiopia@cgiar.org

Contents

Acknowledgments				
Sumn	nary		V	
1	Introd	duction	1	
2	Materials and methods			
	2.1	Background to the study	2	
	2.2	Study site description and household selection	2	
	2.3	Survey tool	2	
	2.4	Survey respondents	3	
	2.5	Data collection and analysis	3	
	2.6	Approvals	4	
3	Results			
	3.1	Contextual information	5	
	3.2	Impact of COVID-19 on the household pig enterprise	6	
	3.3	The impact of COVID-19 on the household more generally	7	
	3.4	The impact of COVID-19 on the community	9	
	3.5	COVID-19 awareness and adoption of preventative measures	10	
	3.6	Conclusion	11	
4	Refere	ences	13	

Acknowledgments

We are extremely grateful to the women and men farmers who kindly consented to participate in this survey and availed their time and expertise. We also thank Moses Kyangwa and David Ahuura who were the field enumerators that conducted the COVID-19 survey.

This research was conducted under the CGIAR Research Program on Livestock (Livestock CRP) and continued under CGIAR Initiative on Sustainable Animal Productivity for Livelihoods, Nutrition and Gender Inclusion (SAPLING). CGIAR research is supported by contributions from the <u>CGIAR Trust Fund</u>. CGIAR is a global research partnership for a food-secure future dedicated to transforming food, land, and water systems in a climate crisis.

This study also used data collected by the Uganda Pig Genetics project, led by the International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI) and the University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna (BOKU), and funded by the Austrian Development Agency.

Summary

Within Uganda, pig-keeping is important to the livelihoods of the rural poor. Uganda has had a long history of controlling epidemics and implemented a strong and fast response to the COVID-19 pandemic. This included the closure of places where people congregate such as schools, home confinement, curfews, and travel restrictions, amongst other measures. This paper reports the perceived effects of these control measures, according to women and men smallholder pig keepers, on their pig enterprises, and households and communities more generally. Of note is that pigs, including breeding sows, were sold for income during the pandemic highlighting their insurance role. Further, the control measures disrupted household pig enterprises, both in relation to access to inputs and marketing. Women found it more difficult to sell pigs in comparison to men and results also suggested the preferred sale of women-owned pigs in some households. Other effects of the control measures on households and communities included lower incomes, disposal of other assets (notably poultry), inability to eat normal meals, inability to access health care, increased violence against women, and increased unplanned pregnancies. It is recommended that building resilience of the pig value chain in Uganda, as well as other animal source food systems, to shocks such as COVID-19 should be a high priority moving forward.

1

1 Introduction

The pig sector is becoming increasingly important to the economy of Uganda. Pig numbers have increased severalfold over the last few decades, with a current national herd of 4.41 million (1). This increase has been driven by increasing demand for pork, with per capita pork consumption the highest in East Africa at 3.0 kg per capita per annum (2, based on 2018 data). The majority of pigs are kept by smallholders in mixed crop-livestock systems under low-input conditions, though there are also some medium-scale semi-intensive as well as a few large-scale intensive enterprises (3). Pigs play an important role in the livelihoods of smallholders, providing income for planned and emergency needs as well as livelihood diversification (4,5). They are favoured by many due to their relatively quick returns, limited space requirements, and ability to utilize household waste. Pigs also contribute to the livelihood of other value chain actors, including input and service providers, and aggregators (traders), amongst others. Whilst the smallholder pig sector currently faces a number of constraints, it also has a high growth potential should these challenges be overcome (4,5).

Uganda has had a long history of controlling epidemics, most recently including Ebola in 2000, 2017, and 2018, and Marburg in 2018 (6). Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) was first reported in Uganda in March 2020, and the government responded rapidly with measures to reduce community spread. These measures included (at different time periods): the closure of places where people would normally congregate like schools (closed from March 2020 to January 2022), colleges, universities, public transport, places of worship, bars, markets, hotels, and others; prohibition of gatherings; home confinement; a curfew from 7 pm to 6.30 am; and countrywide and international travel restrictions (6–9). Additionally, there were strong public health campaigns promoting hand hygiene, physical distancing, and the use of face masks, with messages delivered by a range of means including radio, television, and social media (6,9). Whilst these measures have generally been considered positive in terms of containing COVID-19, with 3588 deaths and 163,301 cases reported to June 2022 (10), unintended consequences of these measures have also been reported. From studies within Uganda, these include lowered food security and dietary quality, disrupted education, lower-income, and employment loss, poorer healthcare outcomes including from lack of access to healthcare services, increased mental health problems, increased domestic and gender-based violence, and increased child abuse, amongst others (7,8,11–17).

Given the importance of pig-keeping to the livelihoods of smallholders in Uganda, and the likelihood of this being disrupted due to COVID-19 control measures, this report explores the effects of COVID-19 control measures on smallholder pig keepers. Perceptions of the effect of COVID-19 control measures on the household pig enterprise, as well as the household and community more generally, are explored, in addition to COVID-19 awareness and uptake of preventative measures. In recognition that these perceptions and practices may differ by gender of the respondent, as well as the type of household (whether female- or male-headed) comparisons to these ends are reported.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Background to the study

This work was performed as part of a larger project which aimed to determine the profitability of smallholder pig enterprises in Uganda that kept different breeds of pigs, amongst others. Within this larger study, household pig enterprises within two sites (see below) were first surveyed for baseline information from April 2018 to October 2018, and then longitudinally monitored between October 2018 and March 2020 (with data collected from eight visits over this time). The survey ended in March 2020 due to the inability to access the field due to COVID-19 restrictions. In late December 2020, it was possible to access the field again and an additional survey (presented here) was undertaken in relation to COVID-19.

2.2 Study site description and household selection

Project sites were the Hoima and Kamuli districts of Uganda, located in western and eastern Uganda, respectively. The sites were primarily chosen because of the importance of pig keeping to livelihoods, and because of the diversity of pig breeds kept (important to the objectives of the larger study).

Two hundred households within the study sites were selected to participate in the larger study. The households were selected through a clustered random sampling approach, where pig-keeping households were first clustered based on the type of household pig enterprise (defined according to the type of housing and pig breeds kept), and 100 households for each site were randomly selected from these clusters. Households in this study (which numbered 178 in total, see below) were those from this group who additionally consented to participate in the COVID-19 effects survey.

2.3 Survey tool

A household survey was utilized, with the majority of questions closed-ended though some were open-ended. For closed-ended questions, respondents were given the option to add an additional response, and the choices were generally not read in advance. The survey consisted of a modification of the longitudinal survey used in the larger study, which monitored the household pig enterprise (both in terms of pig production and sales, as well as income and costs, amongst others). In addition, there were more questions on the perceived impact of COVID-19 on the household pig enterprise, and household and community more generally, plus an assessment of the understanding of selected issues around COVID-19.

2.4 Survey respondents

One hundred and seventy-eight (178) households (90 from Kamuli and 88 from Hoima) participated in this survey. Overall, 36 (20%) of the households were female-headed and the remaining 142 (80%) were male-headed. Respondents were the main pig keeper within the household (defined as the person who performs most of the pig-related tasks and makes most of the pig-related decisions), of which 131 (74%) were female and 47 (26%) were male. Of the female respondents, the majority (70%) were spouses of male household heads, 29% were female household heads, and 1% was the parent of a male household head. All male respondents were household heads. See Table 1 for a summary.

Table 1. Overview of survey respondents, considering respondent gender, gender of the household head, and site.

C'L-	Male-headed household		Female-headed household	Takal	
Site	Male respondent	Female respondent	Female respondent	- Total	
Hoima	36	32	20	88	
Kamuli	11	63	16	90	
Total	47	95	36		
Total, comparison by gender of household head	142		36	178	
Total, comparison by gender of the respondent	47		131	178	

2.5 Data collection and analysis

The COVID-19 survey data was collected between December 2020 and January 2021, by enumerators who had been working with the farmers as part of the larger study. The survey was administered in the local languages of Runyakitara and Lusoga for the Hoima and Kamuli sites, respectively. Data were entered into a CSPro database (18) and then collated (along with data from the larger survey) in a MySQL database, available from https://data.ilri.org/portal/.

Contextual information presented in the first part of the results is drawn from a series of baseline surveys, including that of adult male and female household members, administered from April to August 2018 as well as a pig census administered from October to December 2018 (also available from https://data.ilri.org/portal/). Whilst this data was collected for 200 households, the information presented here only relates to the 178 households included in this study.

Survey data were analyzed via simple summary statistics, with the denominator as the number of respondents who answered the question unless otherwise indicated. For open-ended questions, the survey responses were first coded. Distributions of responses between male and female respondents, or between male- and female-headed households, were compared using Pearson's chi-squared test, with the *p*-value computed from a Monte Carlo test (19) using 10,000 replications, and a significance level (alpha) of 0.05. For cases of significant differences, Pearson's residuals were examined to determine the main contributing factors. Comparisons were made as per Table 2. Due to the high number of comparisons only significant differences are noted in the results: comparisons that did not result in significant differences are not reported. For gendered comparisons, the terms 'women', 'men', and 'children' are used to refer to household members that are adult females, adult males, or children (boys and girls), respectively. The term 'joint' or 'jointly' (such as in 'the decision was made jointly') refers to between household adult females and males.

When monetary values are given in United States dollars (USD), a conversion rate of 1,000 Uganda shilling (UGX) to 0.28 USD was used.

Table 2. Comparisons between female and male respondents, or female and male-headed households, reported in this study.

Analysis	Comparisons between female and male respondents	Comparisons between female and male-headed households
Impact of COVID-19 on the household pig enterprise	Yes	Yes
The impact of COVID-19 on the household	Yes	Yes
The impact of COVID-19 on the community	Yes	No
Understanding of, and perceptions around, COVID-19	Yes	No

2.6 Approvals

Approval for this study was obtained from the Uganda National Council for Science and Technology (UNCST, approval number SS4550) as well as the International Livestock Research Institute's (ILRI's) Institutional Research Ethics Committee which is registered by the National Commission for Science, Technology, and Innovation in Kenya (approval number ILRIIREC2018-01).

3 Results

3.1 Contextual information

Livelihoods and income of the study households. All households kept pigs (a criteria for inclusion in the study). Other main livelihood activities were named as food crop production (82% of households), own business not related to livestock or agriculture (24%), off-farm salaried employment (16%), cash-crop production (15%), and dairy cattle keeping (10%). Key household livelihood activities did not significantly differ according to the gender of the respondent or gender of the household head. The majority of households (75%) indicated they had an income of between UGX 100,000 and 600,000 (USD 28 to 166) per month, whilst 12% and 13% of households indicated a lower or higher monthly income than this, respectively.

Household demographics, land ownership, and housing. Most respondents (96%) gave their religion as Christian. Ethnicity was named as Basoga and Banyoro for the majority of respondents from the Kamuli and Hoima sites, respectively. The number of persons per household ranged from 1 to 17, with a mean of 6. The most common highest education level of any household member was middle secondary (38%), though it ranged from higher primary through to university.

Households typically had either earth or cement floors, earth or cement brick walls, and iron sheets for roofing. Lighting was solar (63%), paraffin or another type of lantern (28%), or electricity (9%). The main means of cooking (71%) was using a traditional three-stone stove with firewood, with some households (15%) using a paraffin stove. Seventy-three % (73%) of households had one or more radio, 17% a television, and 87% one or more mobile phones (with relatively equal ownership by women and men). All households owned land, with land ownership of less than one acre, between one and three acres, and three or more acres (usually up to 10 acres) in 32%, 35%, and 33% of cases, respectively.

Household pig enterprises. The most highly rated reasons for keeping pigs were 'savings and insurance' followed by 'income from pig sale' (with average ratings of 4.1 and 3.7 respectively, using a 0 to 5 rating scale where 0 was of no importance and 5 was the highest importance). The next highest rated reason was income from boar sire service (1.2). Reasons considered least important (with an average rating of 1 or less) were manure use for income or cropping, home consumption of pig meat, use of pigs for ceremonies or dowries, and keeping of pigs for prestige. The keeping of pigs for savings and insurance was statistically significantly more important for females in comparison to males (p=0.03). Similar results are given in Babigumira et al. (20) where this analysis is reported for the larger data set.

The main uses of the income from pigs were given as payment of school fees (83% of respondents), followed by paying off debts, purchasing medication, purchasing clothes, and home improvement (18% to 31%, depending on the expense type). This distribution was significantly different between male and female respondents, mainly due to more females naming 'paying off debts' than males (42% versus 3%).

At the time of the pig census, almost three-quarters of households (73%) kept sows, whilst the remaining households only kept growing piglets. Of households that kept sows, the majority (53%) kept one sow, though some households (29%) kept two, and other households (18%) between three and seven. Few (9%) of households kept a boar (these households would access boars from neighbours or friends, or the village boar keeper). For most households (83%) total pigs of any type (including piglets) ranged from 1 to 5 with a mode of 2 (in other cases total pig number ranged up to 36).

Low input management systems were predominantly practiced. Twenty-nine per cent (29%) of households kept their pigs in pig housing (stys) all the time, whilst the other households practiced various combinations of keeping pigs housed, tethered, or allowing them to free-range (with free ranging particularly practiced for piglets). A variety of feeds were reported to be used including maize and rice bran, sweetpotato vines and roots, cassava and yam leaves, other plants including amaranth, pigweed, spurge, kitchen leftovers (swill) both boiled and unboiled, and commercial feeds. The main pig breeds as named by the pig keepers were local or Ugandan (38% of pigs), exotic (known to include Large White and Landrace amongst others 37%), crossbreed between local and exotic (13%), or unknown (12%). Additional information on the genotype of pigs in these study sites is given in Babigumira et al. (21).

According to female respondents in male-headed households, the feeding of pigs (a major labour activity) was predominantly performed by women (58% of households) or jointly (32%). Control of income from the sale of slaughter pigs was most commonly by men (40%) or jointly (37%), and less commonly by women (14%). In female-headed households, the feeding of pigs was most commonly done by women (75%) but also by men and children (11% in each case), with control of income from pig sale by women (74%) and also jointly and by men (17% and 9%, respectively).

Other livestock enterprises. Other household livestock enterprises included poultry (kept by 75% of households, with most commonly between 1 and 20 per household, though up to 230), goat (42%, most commonly 1 to 5, though up to 11), cattle (34%, most commonly 1 to 3, though up to 25), and sheep (7%, most commonly 1 to 5, though up to 10).

3.2 Impact of COVID-19 on the household pig enterprise

The impact of COVID-19 on the household pig enterprise was reported as follows. Pig sale price (reported by those who had tried to sell pigs, 73% of households) was mostly considered to be lower than normal (48% of respondents) or as normal (37%). This aligns with that reported in Hammond et al. (13) who looked at the impact of COVID-19 on smallholders within a number of low- and middle-income countries including Uganda, where a subset of Ugandan farmers within that study perceived lower animal sales prices due to COVID-19 restrictions.

In terms of ease of pig sale, many respondents (61%) considered this to be as normal or easy, though 36% of respondents considered it difficult or not possible to sell pigs. Here there was a significant difference in responses between male and female respondents, with females more commonly indicating sales were difficult and males more commonly indicating they were normal or easy. Low sales prices and difficulties in selling were mainly attributed (by both women and men) to the lack of buyers or traders, with respondents perceiving that these either had closed their business or did not have sufficient funds to purchase animals, as well as lack of transport. Half (50%) of respondents indicated they were selling pigs to a different buyer or trader than normal, mostly commonly selling to traders, butchers, or farmers within the village rather than to traders from outside the village. Here the distribution of responses was again different between male and female respondents, with females more commonly indicating they could not sell to the usual buyer, whilst males more commonly reported they could: the reason(s) for this difference was not clear from the data.

Of households who tried to purchase feed (70% of all households), the majority considered feed availability to be lower than normal (79%) and the price to be higher than normal (91%). Of households who accessed veterinary services (64% of all households), the majority considered the availability of veterinarians to be lower than normal (50%) or as normal (30%). Service fees were considered higher than normal by about two-thirds of respondents (68%). Of households buying pharmaceuticals for their pigs (70% of all households), 78% considered the price to be higher than normal. This perceived disruption to livestock service provision is notably higher than reported in Uganda by Hammond et al. (13)but hard data have been lacking. We present the results from 9201 interviews with smallholder farmers from seven countries. OBJECTIVE: The objectives are to describe: i, where disruptions to crop inputs, seeds, and labour were more commonly reported. There are many possibilities for this difference, including different portfolios of agricultural activities undertaken by the study households.

Almost all respondents (98% to 99%) indicated there had been no change in who provides labour for the pigs, makes decisions on pig husbandry or sale, or controls the income from the pigs over the COVID-19 period.

The sale of pigs for cash in response to difficulties caused by COVID-19 was reported by just over half (51%) of households (47% of female-headed and 51% of male-headed), with these households mostly selling one, two, or three pigs (47%, 20% and 11% of households who sold pigs, respectively), though up to 10. Many of the pigs sold (68%) were adults, thus likely breeding animals. The average sale price of adult pigs was UGX 286,000 or USD 80 (with a range of UGX 82,500 to 750,0000 or USD 23 to 160), whilst younger pigs sold for an average sale price of UGX 52,000 or USD 15 (with a range from UGX 25, 000 to 7,000 or USD 7 to 20). The total value of pig sales per household averaged UGX 413,300 or USD 116 (with a range from UGX 50,000 to 2,750,000 or USD 14 to 770). The sale of pigs as a coping strategy over the COVID-19 period was also reported for Ugandan farmers by Hammond et al. (13)but hard data have been lacking. We present the results from 9201 interviews with smallholder farmers from seven countries. OBJECTIVE: The objectives are to describe: i.

The key advantage of pig keeping over the COVID-19 period was named as income by almost half of the respondents (49%) for food, school fees, medical expenses, and general household expenses (such as paraffin or soap). Other advantages named by fewer respondents (5% to 11%) included the pigs' ability to utilize locally available feedstuffs, ease of marketing, suitability to keep in a small space, and quick returns. No specific advantage of keeping pigs over the COVID-19 period was indicated by 21% of respondents.

Overall, the majority of household pig enterprises were negatively affected by lower sales prices and increased difficulty in selling pigs and/or more expensive and less available inputs. Females experienced more difficulties in selling pigs than males, though no gender differences were evident on the input side. A study on the impact of COVID-19 on smallholder poultry farmers in Nigeria similarly found that access to markets (for birds and eggs) was more reduced for females in comparison to males (22). Pig sale for cash was relatively common (around half of the households). That many pigs of breeding age were sold is of concern, and follow-up studies on whether, and how, households have replaced this livestock asset are recommended. Whilst the majority of households could name one or more advantages of pig keeping over the COVID-19 period, these overlapped with reasons for pig keeping more generally (see sections 3.1, also [5, 20]).

3.3 The impact of COVID-19 on the household more generally

The impact of COVID-19 on the household (beyond the pig enterprises) was also examined. Almost all (98%) of respondents indicated their household had less income since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. This was attributed to lower farm income from both cropping and livestock, due to lack of buyers, lower prices, inability to go to the market during lockdowns, and in the case of crops the need to keep the produce for home consumption, as well as reduced

off-farm employment and less profitable off-farm enterprises. The loss of household income was said to impact all family members (women, men, girls and boys). Receiving lower remittances was also reported by 61% of households. A reduction in both off-farm and farm income over the COVID-19 period, as well as lower remittances, was also reported by Ugandan farmers in Hammond et al. (13)but hard data have been lacking. We present the results from 9201 interviews with smallholder farmers from seven countries. OBJECTIVE: The objectives are to describe: i.

The inability to eat normal meals was reported by 51% of households, with about one-fifth (21%) of these household indicating a serious food shortage. This was said to impact all family members. Sick household members were not able to be cared for properly in 61% of households, with insufficient funds to buy medicine or pay for health care named as key contributing factors. On loans, money was borrowed by 47% of households, mainly from a friend or relative (77% of those who borrowed) but also from a formal loan provider (23%). Only 9% of households reported additional household members returning home (most common 1 person but up to 17), whilst 2% of households reported people leaving the home (2 or 3 persons per household). Similar to this study, reduced food quantity and food diversity, as well as the incurrence of risky debts, were reported by about one-fifth of Ugandan farmers in the Hammond et al. study (13). In contrast to this study, however, Hammond et al. (13) found only 1% of Ugandan households perceived they had reduced education or healthcare. Other studies within Uganda, including those targeting groups of people with different demographics, also reported issues related to food and nutritional security, healthcare, education, and borrowing of money in response to COVID-19 (7,12,15,16).

Household livestock sale, for cash over the COVID-19 period, was reported by 67% and 68% of female- and male-headed households, respectively. The most common livestock types sold (across all households) were pigs (51% of households, mostly selling 1 pig though up to 10) and chicken (19%, mostly two chickens, though between 1 and 10). A smaller proportion of households also sold cattle (7%, mostly 1 and less commonly 2) or goats (5%, mostly 1 but up to 6). That households sold more pigs and poultry, compared to cattle and goats, aligns with households keeping more pigs and poultry in comparison to the other species (see section 3.1) as well as poultry, in particular, being an easily disposable asset. For households who sold livestock, the average sale value (for all animals sold by a household) was UGX 491,000 (USD 136) with a range from UGX 12,000 to 5,000,000 (USD 3 to 1,388) per household. The sale of livestock species, particularly pigs and poultry, as a coping strategy in response to COVID-19 was also reported by Ugandan farmers in Hammond et al. (13).

The value (UGX) of livestock sold over the COVID-19 period attributed to livestock owned by women, men, and jointly, in male-headed households, was 38%, 9%, and 53% (of the total value of livestock sales) respectively; whilst in female-headed households, all livestock sold were female-owned. Comparisons were made between the distributions of intrahousehold ownership of animals kept (according to the baseline survey) and those reported as sold over the COVID-19 period for pigs and poultry, based on the animal numbers (regardless of animal type or sales values, as these details were not available within the baseline data). The distribution of intrahousehold ownership between animals kept and those sold were statistically significantly different (p<0.001) for both male and female-headed households (Table 3). In all cases, the proportion of animals sold that were female-owned was higher than the proportion kept. For example, in male-headed households, females owned 11% of all pigs, but 29% of pigs sold were female-owned. As another example, in female-headed households, females owned 77% of poultry but all (100%) of poultry sold were female-owned (note that about two-thirds of female-headed households had adult males, usually children of the household head up to 30 years of age, allowing for male and joint ownership of livestock assets). These results suggest that in some households' female-owned livestock assets are sold in preference to those owned jointly or by males. However, this needs to be interpreted with caution as 'ownership', and particularly 'joint ownership', can be interpreted differently (23, 24). Further we shall compare ownership at the time of the baseline survey to sales at a later date. Follow-up studies on this, for validation and (if validated) to explore and identify the underpinning gender norms and how these can be addressed, are recommended. Note this comparison was not performed in the case of cattle and goats as too few animals were reported as being sold.

Table 3. Pig and poultry ownership distributions at the time of the baseline survey (baseline) and for animals that were sold over the COVID-19 period (sales), for male and female-headed households.

	Male-headed households			Female-headed households				
Ownership	Pigs		Poultry		Pigs		Poultry	
	Baseline	Sales	Baseline	Sales	Baseline	Sales	Baseline	Sales
Female	0.11	0.29	0.19	0.38	0.70	1.00	0.77	1.00
Male	0.10	0.13	0.13	0.15	0.01		0.00	
oint	0.79	0.58	0.68	0.47	0.29		0.23	
p-value	<0.001		<0.001		<0.001		<0.001	

For the livestock sold there was reportedly good correspondence between who owned the animal(s), the decision-maker(s) on the sale, and who controlled the income. For male-headed households, this correspondence was reported in 77% of sale cases, representing 86% of the total value of livestock sales. In female-headed households, this correspondence was reported in 84% of sale cases, representing 92% of the total value of livestock sales (in the other cases the income was controlled by a male household member or a non-household member). In cases where this correspondence was not observed, there was no strong pattern on the relationship between who owned, made the decision, or controlled the income. This finding, however, also requires additional follow-up for validation due to the nuances and different interpretations around joint ownership, decision-making, and income control (23–25).

Household asset sale (other than livestock), for cash over the COVID-19 period, was reported by fewer households (6% of female-headed and 3% of male-headed). These included land, motorbikes, household furniture, and goods. For households who sold assets, sale value ranged from UGX 25,000 to 9,000,000 (USD 7 to 2,498). On the sale of household assets, the proportion of the total value of the asset sales attributed to assets owned by males, by females, and jointly was 51%, 48%, and 1% for male-headed households, respectively. All assets sold from female-headed households were female-owned. Similar to livestock, there was reasonable correspondence on who owned the asset, made the decision for its sale, and controlled the income. Hammond et al. (13) also reported a few Ugandan households selling assets as a coping strategy to COVID-19.

In summary, almost all households reported income loss over the COVID-19 period, with this attributed to both reductions in on-farm and off-farm income. Negative impacts on food and nutrition security, health care as well as the taking out of loans, were also reported by a significant number of households. This aligns with findings of other studies in Uganda and elsewhere (14, 26–28) on the negative impact of COVID-19 control measures. Livestock sale, particularly of pigs and poultry, was reported as a coping strategy by about two-thirds of households, highlighting the insurance role that livestock plays in rural livelihoods to meet unforeseen expenses resulting from shocks (29). That results suggest female-owned livestock assets are preferentially sold in some households is concerning.

3.4 The impact of COVID-19 on the community

Respondents were also asked to share their perceived impacts of COVID-19 on their community. On mobility, the majority of respondents (85%) felt it was somewhat less safe to walk around (such as to the markets) with this mainly attributed to the possibility of getting COVID-19, and in fewer cases attributed to the fear of being attacked or stigmatized. Respondents indicated this applied to everyone (women, men, girls, boys).

also been documented in Uganda (16).

Violence against women (expressed to the respondents as husbands or partners hitting or beating their wives or girlfriends; and asked at the community level rather than in relation to the respondent's own home) was considered to have increased by the majority (73%) of respondents. Here the distribution of responses was significantly different between the male and female respondents (p=0.004), notably with a higher proportion of males giving the response of 'unsure' in comparison to females. The number of unplanned pregnancies (also asked at the community level) was also considered to have increased by the majority (81%) of respondents. Further 79% of respondents perceived increased conflict within the community. Increased violence against women over the COVID-19 period was also reported in a study

targeting Western Uganda (15). Whilst not asked in this study, an increase in child abuse over the COVID-19 period has

An increase in diseases or illnesses, other than COVID-19, was perceived by 50% of respondents, who most commonly named malaria. Here the distribution of responses was significantly different between the male and female respondents (p<0.001), notably with a higher proportion of males reporting no increase and females reporting an increase. An increase in the number of people begging, and loss of aid support was perceived by about half of the respondents (52% and 55%, respectively). Fewer respondents felt there was an increase in the number of homeless people (17% of respondents), less access to public toilets (9%), or less access to clean water from public access points (12%).

In summary, several negative impacts of COVID-19 were reported at the community level. Of great concern is the reported increase in violence against women and unplanned pregnancies, which has also been reported in numerous other studies (30–32).

3.5 COVID-19 awareness and adoption of preventative measures

Awareness around COVID-19 and the adoption of preventative measures were also explored. COVID-19 symptoms most named by respondents were fever (66% of respondents), sneezing / runny nose (63%), dry cough (53%), difficulty breathing (37%), headache (31%), sore throat (17%), and loss of taste or smell (17%). On how COVID-19 spread, the most common response was through the air (72%) followed by touching objects or surfaces that have been touched by infected people (48%) or with respiratory drops from infected persons (47%). Eight per cent (8%) of respondents were not able to name any means of the diseases' spread. The majority (81%) of respondents indicated that they felt anyone could be infected by COVID-19. Those named as most likely to be adversely affected were those above 70 years of age (87%); people with underlying conditions including AIDS / HIV, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, cancer, or 'already sick' (12% to 41% of respondents); and children (31%).

On actions being taken to prevent infection with COVID-19, the main responses were washing hands (92%), mask-wearing (84%), avoiding crowded places (43%), and staying at home (20%). Here the distribution of responses was significantly different between the male and female respondents (p<0.001), notably with a higher proportion of males naming the avoidance of crowded places than females. Main responses about what action the respondents would take in case of infection were going to a medical facility for testing and treatment (85%) and staying at home not to infect others (31%). Five per cent (5%) of respondents could not provide an answer. When asked about potential management and treatment options for COVID-19 infection, the most common responses were 'don't know' (60% of respondents), followed by garlic, vitamins, sun exposure, antibiotics, cow urine, and there is no treatment (16% to 22% of respondents each). Here was a significant difference in the distribution of responses between male and female respondents (p<0.001), with a higher proportion of males naming 'don't know', and a higher proportion of females naming vitamins and garlic.

Main information sources on COVID-19 were given as radio (91% of respondents), family, friends, or neighbours (58%), television (29%), and government health workers (14%). Three per cent (3%) of respondents indicated they did not have an information source.

Overall, these results show that the majority of participants had reasonable to good knowledge about COVID-19 symptoms, transmission mechanisms, preventative actions to take if infected, and risk groups. The public health measures of hand washing and mask-wearing were commonly practiced, though crowded places were not always avoided, particularly by women. Potential treatment and management options were less understood, with respiratory therapy not specifically mentioned and other named options not evidence-based (33,34). The use of cow urine to treat COVID-19 has also been reported in India where it has been raised as a public health concern (35). That Ugandans are informed on many aspects related to COVID-19 has previously been reported and attributed to the government's strong education campaign on COVID-19 and related control measures which were initiated soon after the first infection was reported in the country in March 2020 (6,36,37). Studies undertaken in May 2020 (38) and March to July 2020 (16) already reported respondents to be well informed on COVID-19 and adopting (to varying degrees) the government's recommended measures.

3.6 Conclusion

There have been numerous studies relevant to low-and middle-income countries on the impact of COVID-19 and related control measures, often reported with recommendations for COVID-19 coping and mitigation strategies (see, for example, 26–28,32,39–42). A smaller body of work has focused on COVID-19s effect on smallholder or pastoral livestock keepers and / or their livestock enterprises. These include those considering effects on smallholder or pastoral households in general (for example, 13,15,43–51), and two focusing more on specific livestock enterprises particularly poultry and dairy cattle (22,52) in addition to this study. Further studies at different levels of breadth and specificity are important, as each helps to build a comprehensive picture.

This study showed that pigs, including breeding sows, were sold for income during COVID-19, and also that COVID-19 control measures disrupted household pig enterprises, both in relation to access to inputs and marketing. A study of rural households in western Uganda in May 2020 by Mahmud and Riley (15) showed that households had coped with less income due to COVID-19 through decreased food expenditure and use or savings, but had not yet liquidated their fixed assets or sold livestock. That livestock sales were reported to a larger degree in this study may be due to the additional time under COVID-19 control measures (with this study undertaken seven months later than that of Mahmud and Riley (15) resulting in a situation where food consumption could not be further decreased and savings were depleted, and/or the different household livelihood profiles between the studies.

Gendered impacts of the effect of COVID-19 control measures on household pig enterprises were observed, importantly including women finding it more difficult to sell pigs in comparison to men, and potentially the preferred sale of womenowned pigs (and poultry) in some households. The intersection of livestock keeping, COVID-19, and gender has been neglected in the literature (besides this study, there are only two others of which we are aware (22,53) and more work to this end is strongly recommended.

This study focused on pig keepers: it is recognized that other actors along the pig value chain would also have been impacted by the COVID-19 control measures. Of note here is that many pig keepers felt that pig traders had ceased operations or did not have sufficient funds to continue their business activities, suggesting that traders were heavily negatively impacted. The impact on input service providers is less clear as they were reported to be less accessible but charging higher fees. Also, whilst not explicitly investigated here, it is likely that the control measures negatively impacted pig welfare, due to the difficulties in accessing feed supply and health care. An overview of studies considering the impact of COVID-19 control measures on different nodes of livestock supply chains, as well as animal welfare, is given in Abu Hatab et al. (39).

Building resilience of animal-source food systems, including the pig value chain in Uganda, to shocks such as COVID-19 should be a high priority moving forward. Efforts should be placed on approaches that build competitiveness and resilience of food systems such that system actors are able to address, absorb and overcome shocks in the market, policy environment, resource base or other aspects of the system. For instance, studies by Kayobyo et al. (54) and World Vision International (55) have shown the importance of market systems interventions in enhancing the resilience of communities and food systems. Such interventions include improving access of food system actors to financial services to smoothen consumption, allowing households to solve pressing needs and avoid distress sales of productive assets such as livestock whenever there are shocks. Other interventions include enhancing business development and technical capacities of system actors, diversification of income sources through product diversification, and strengthening capacities of groups to lobby for support and services from relevant government programs that impact on the food system.

4 References

- 1. Uganda Bureau of Statistics Statistical Abstract 2020. (Available from: http://library.health.go.ug/publications/statistics/uganda-bureau-statistics-statistical-abstract-2020). (Accessed 27 June 2022).
- 2. FAOSTAT (Food and Agriculture Organization Corporate Statistical Database). nd. (Available from: https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#home). (Accessed 27 June 2022).
- 3. Tatwangire, A. 2014. Uganda smallholder pigs value chain development: situation analysis and trends. ILRI Project Report. Nairobi, Kenya: ILRI. https://hdl.handle.net/10568/34090
- 4. Ouma, E., Dione, M., Lule, P., Roesel, K. and Pezo, D. 2014. Characterization of smallholder pig production systems in Uganda: Constraints and opportunities for engaging with market systems. *Livest Res Rural Dev* 26: 56.
- 5. Ouma, E.A., Dione, M.M., Lule P., Pezo, D., Marshall, K., Roesel, K., Mayega, L., Kiryabwire, D., Nadiope, G. and Jagwe, J. 2015. *Smallholder pig value chain assessment in Uganda: Results from producer focus group discussions and key informant interviews*. ILRI Project Report Nairobi, Kenya: ILRI. hdl.handle.net/10568/68011
- 6. Kitara, D. 2020. Journal El-TPAM, 2020 U. COVID-19 pandemic, Uganda's story. Pan Afr Med J 35:51.
- 7. Matovu, J.K.B, Kabwama, S.N., Ssekamatte, T., Ssenkusu, J. and Wanyenze, R.K. 2021. COVID-19 Awareness, Adoption of COVID-19 preventive measures, and effects of COVID-19 lockdown among adolescent boys and young men in Kampala, Uganda. *J Community Health* 46:842–853. doi: 10.1007/s10900-021-00961-w.
- 8. Nuwematsiko, R., Nabiryo, M., Bomboka, J.B., Nalinya, S., Musoke, D., Okello, D. and Wanyenze R.K. 2022. Unintended socio-economic and health consequences of COVID-19 among slum dwellers in Kampala, Uganda. *BMC Public Health* 22:1–13. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-12453-6
- 9. Uganda Ministry of Health. 2020. Update on Uganda's enhanced measures to prevent importation of novel Corona virus disease COVID-19. https://www.health.go.ug/covid/document/update-on-ugandas-enhanced-measures-to-prevent-importation-of-novel-corona-virus-disease-COVID-19/
- 10. Uganda Ministry of Health COVID-19. nd. (Available from https://www.health.go.ug/covid/). (Accessed 27 June 2022).
- 11. Bukuluki, P., Mwenyango, H., Katongole, S.P., Sidhva, D. and Palattiyil, G. 2020. The socio-economic and psychosocial impact of COVID-19 pandemic on urban refugees in Uganda. *Soc Sci Humanit Open* 2:100045. doi: 10.1016/j.ssaho.2020.100045.
- 12. Giebel, C., Ivan, B., Burger, P. and Ddumba, I. 2020. Impact of COVID-19 public health restrictions on older people in Uganda: Hunger is really one of those problems brought by this COVID. *Int Psychogeriatrics* doi: 10.1017/S1041610220004081.
- 13. Hammond, J., Siegal, K., Milner, D., Elimu, E., Vail, T., Cathala, P., Gatera, A., Karim, A., Lee J.E., Douxchamps, S., et al. 2022. Perceived effects of COVID-19 restrictions on smallholder farmers: Evidence from seven lower- and middle-income countries. *Agric Syst* 198:103367. doi: 10.1016/j.agsy.2022.103367
- 14. Kansiime, M.K., Tambo, J.A., Mugambi, I., Bundi, M., Kara, A. and Owuor, C. 2021. COVID-19 implications on household income and food security in Kenya and Uganda: Findings from a rapid assessment. *World Dev* 137: doi: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2020.105199
- 15. Mahmud, M. and Riley, E. 2021. Household response to an extreme shock: Evidence on the immediate impact of the COVID-19 lockdown on economic outcomes and well-being in rural Uganda. *World Dev* 140:105318. doi: 10.1016/j. worlddev.2020.105318

- Mbazzi, F.B., Nalugya, R., Kawesa, E., Nimusiima, C., King, R., van Hove G. and Seeley, J. 2020. The impact of COVID-19 measures on children with disabilities and their families in Uganda. *Disabil Soc.* doi: 10.1080/09687599.2020.1867075
- 17. Sserwanja, Q., Kawuki, J. and Kim, J.H. 2021. Increased child abuse in Uganda amidst COVID-19 pandemic. *J Paediatr Child Health* 57:188–191. doi: 10.1111/jpc.15289
- 18. Census and survey processing system. 2013. *United States Census Bur People Households* (Available from: http://www.census.gov/population/international/software/cspro/). (Accessed 27 June 2022).
- 19. Hope, A.C.A. 1968. A simplified Monte Carlo significance test procedure. *J R Stat Soc Ser B* 30:582–598. doi: 10.1111/j.2517-6161.1968.tb00759.x
- 20. Babigumira, B.M., Ouma, E., Sölkner, J. and Marshall, K. 2021. Perceptions of women and men smallholder pig keepers in Uganda on pig keeping objectives, and breed and trait preferences. *Proceedings of the 23rd Conference of the Association for the Advancement of Animal Breeding and Genetics, Armidale, Australia, 27 October 1 November 2019. Armidale, Australia.* p. 175–178
- 21. Babigumira, B.M., Sölkner, J., Mészáros, G., Pfeiffer, C., Lewis, C.R.G., Ouma, E., Wurzinger, M. and Marshall, K. 2021. A mix of old British and modern European breeds: Genomic prediction of breed composition of smallholder pigs in Uganda. *Front Genet* 12. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2021.676047
- 22. Bamidele, O. and Amole, T.A. 2021. Impact of COVID-19 on smallholder poultry farmers in Nigeria. *Sustain* 13:11475. doi: 10.3390/su132011475
- 23. Galiè, A., Mulema, A., Mora Benard, M.A., Onzere, S.N. and Colverson, K.E. 2015. Exploring gender perceptions of resource ownership and their implications for food security among rural livestock owners in Tanzania, Ethiopia, and Nicaragua. *Agric Food Secur* 4:2. doi: 10.1186/s40066-015-0021-9.
- 24. Hillesland, M., Doss, C. and Slavchevska, V. 2021. Who claims the rights to livestock? Exploring gender patterns of asset holdings in smallholder households in Uganda. *Intl Food Policy Res Inst* doi: 10.2499/p15738coll2.134962
- 25. Acosta, M., van Wessel, M., van Bommel, S., Ampaire, E.L., Twyman, J., Jassogne, L. and Feindt, P.H. 2020. What does it mean to make a 'joint' decision? Unpacking intra-household decision making in agriculture: Implications for policy and practice. *J Dev Stud* 56:1210–1229. doi: 10.1080/00220388.2019.1650169
- 26. Loayza, N.V. and Pennings, S. 2020. *Macroeconomic policy in the time of COVID-19: A primer for developing countries*. Research and policy briefs no. 28. World Bank, Washington, DC. doi: 10.1596/33540.
- 27. Workie, E., Mackolil, J., Nyika, J.and Ramadas, S. 2020. Deciphering the impact of COVID-19 pandemic on food security, agriculture, and livelihoods: A review of the evidence from developing countries. *Curr Res Environ Sustain* 2:100014. doi: 10.1016/j.crsust.2020.100014
- 28. Brodeur, A., Gray, D., Islam, A. and Bhuiyan, S. 2021. A literature review of the economics of COVID-19. *J Econ Surv* 35:1007–1044. doi: 10.1111/joes.12423
- 29. Adams, F., Ohene-Yankyera, K., Aidoo, R. and Wongnaa, C.A. 2021. Economic benefits of livestock management in Ghana. *Agric Food Econ* 9:17. doi: 10.1186/s40100-021-00191-7.
- 30. Mazza, M., Marano, G., Lai, C., Janiri, L. and Sani, G. 2020. Danger in danger: Interpersonal violence during COVID-19 quarantine. *Psychiatry Res* 289: doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113046
- 31. Marques, E.S., de Moraes, C.L., Hasselmann, M.H., Deslandes, S.F. and Reichenheim, M.E. 2021. Violence against women, children, and adolescents during the COVID-19 pandemic: Overview, contributing factors, and mitigating measures. *Cad Saude Publica* 36: doi: 10.1590/0102-311X00074420
- 32.Mittal, S. and Singh, T. 2020. Gender-based violence during COVID-19 pandemic: A mini-review. *Front Glob Women's Heal* 1: doi: 10.3389/fgwh.2020.00004
- 33. Reihani, H., Ghassemi, M., Mazer-Amirshahi, M., Aljohani, B. and Pourmand, A. 2021. Non-evidenced based treatment: An unintended cause of morbidity and mortality related to COVID-19. *Am J Emerg Med* 39:221–222. doi: 10.1016/j.ajem.2020.05.001.
- 34. Suresh, D.V., Pallepati, D.A., and Jagadeson, D.M. 2021. COVID-19 myths, misinformation, infodemics and information hygiene: A narrative review. *Int J Appl Dent Sci* 7:10–15. doi: 10.22271/oral.2021.v7.i1a.1109
- 35. Daria, S. and Islam, M.R. 2021. The use of cow dung and urine to cure COVID-19 in India: A public health concern. *Int J Health Plann Manage* 36:1950–1952. doi: 10.1002/hpm.3257

36. Adebisi, Y.A., Rabe, A. and Lucero-Prisno, D.E. 2021. Risk communication and community engagement strategies for COVID-19 in 13 African countries. *Heal Promot Perspect* 11:137–147. doi: 10.34172/hpp.2021.18

- 37. Sarki, A.M., Ezeh, A. and Stranges, S. 2020. Uganda as a role model for pandemic containment in Africa. *Am J Public Health* 110:1800–1802. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2020.305948
- 38. Okello, G., Izudi, J., Teguzirigwa, S., Kakinda, A. and Van Hal, G. 2020. Findings of a cross-sectional survey on knowledge, attitudes, and practices about COVID-19 in Uganda: Implications for public health prevention and control measures. *Biomed Res Int* 2020: doi: 10.1155/2020/5917378.
- 39. Abu Hatab, A., Krautscheid, L. and Boqvist, S. 2021. COVID-19, livestock systems and food security in developing countries: A systematic review of an emerging literature. *Pathogens* 10: doi: 10.3390/pathogens10050586.
- 40. Adebiyi, B.O., Roman, N.V., Chinyakata, R. and Balogun T.V. 2021. The negative impacts of COVID-19 containment measures on South African families overview and recommendations. *Open Public Health J* 14:233–238. doi: 10.2174/1874944502114010233.
- 41. Béné, C. 2020. Resilience of local food systems and links to food security A review of some important concepts in the context of COVID-19 and other shocks. *Food Secur* 12:805–822. doi: 10.1007/s12571-020-01076-1.
- 42. Buheji, M., da Costa Cunha, K., Beka, G., Mavrić, B., Leandro do Carmo de Souza, Y., Souza da Costa Silva, S., Hanafi, M. and Chetia Yein, T. 2020. The extent of COVID-19 pandemic socio-economic impact on global poverty. A global integrative multidisciplinary review. *Am J Econ* 10:213–224. doi: 10.5923/j.economics.20201004.02
- 43. Kansiime, M.K., Tambo, J.A., Mugambi, I., Bundi M., Kara A. and Owuor, C. 2021.COVID-19 implications on household income and food security in Kenya and Uganda: Findings from a rapid assessment. *World Dev* 137:105199. doi: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2020.105199
- 44. Balana, B., Oyeyemi, M.A., Ogunniyi, A., Fasoranti, A., Edeh, H., Aiki, J. and Andam, K. 2020. The effects of COVID-19 policies on livelihoods and food security of smallholder farm households in Nigeria: Descriptive results from a phone survey. *IFPRI Discussion Paper 01979* 1–34.
- 45. Dixon, J.M., Weerahewa, J., Hellin, J., Rola-Rubzen, M.F., Huang, J., Kumar, S., Das, A., Qureshi, M.E., Krupnik, T.J., Shideed, K., et al. 2021. Response and resilience of Asian agrifood systems to COVID-19: An assessment across twenty-five countries and four regional farming and food systems. *Agric Syst* 193:103168. doi: 10.1016/j.agsy.2021.103168
- 46. Griffith, E.F., Craige, S., Manzano, P., Pius, L., Jost, C.C. 2021. Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on food security among East and West African pastoralists. *Advances in Food Security and Sustainability* 231–261, doi: 10.1016/bs.af2s.2021.07.004
- 47. Lopez-Ridaura, S., Sanders, A., Barba-Escoto, L, Wiegel, J., Mayorga-Cortes, M., Gonzalez-Esquivel, C., Lopez-Ramirez, M.A., Escoto-Masis, R.M., Morales-Galindo, E. and García-Barcena, T.S. 2021. Immediate impact of COVID-19 pandemic on farming systems in Central America and Mexico. *Agric Syst* 192:103178. doi: 10.1016/j.agsy.2021.103178.
- 48. Middendorf, B.J., Faye, A., Middendorf, G., Stewart, Z.P., Jha, P.K. and Prasad, P.V.V. 2021. Smallholder farmer perceptions about the impact of COVID-19 on agriculture and livelihoods in Senegal. *Agric Syst* 190:103108. doi: 10.1016/j.agsy.2021.103108
- 49. Rahman, M.S. and Chandra Das, G. 2021. Effect of COVID-19 on the livestock sector in Bangladesh and recommendations. *J Agric Food Res* 4: doi: 10.1016/j.jafr.2021.100128
- 50. Simula, G., Bum, T., Farinella, D., Maru, N., Mohamed, T.S., Taye, M., and Tsering, P. 2021. COVID-19 and pastoralism: reflections from three continents. *J Peasant Stud* 48:48–72. doi: 10.1080/03066150.2020.1808969.
- 51. Asegie, A.M., Adisalem, S.T. and Eshetu, A.A. 2021. The effects of COVID-19 on livelihoods of rural households: South Wollo and Oromia Zones, Ethiopia. *Heliyon* 7: doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e08550.
- 52. Meseret, S., Tera, A., Jufar, B., Gebreyohannes, G., Mrode, R., Ekine-Dzivenu, C., Ojango, J. and Mwai, O. 2021. Assessing the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on dairy cattle farming in Ethiopia. Nairobi, Kenya: ILRI.
- 53. Stöber, S., Adinata, K., Ramba, T., Paganini, N. and Sulejmanović, N. 2021. Smallholder farmers' challenges of coping with COVID-19 containments: insights from two food regions in Indonesia. *African J Food, Agric Nutr Dev* 21:18223–18244. doi: 10.18697/ajfand.101.20900
- 54. Kayobyo, G., Okech, M. and Bbosa, S. 2016. Market system interventions and resilience assessment in Uganda. Doi: https://www.acdivoca.org/2018/05/market-system-interventions-and-resilience-assessment-in-uganda/
- 55. World Vision International. 2022. Inclusive market systems development (IMSD) in brief. doi: https://www.worldvision.com.au/docs/default-source/seed-docs/wva-imsd-5-page-overview-2020-final.pdf

92-9146-750-2



The International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI) works to improve food and nutritional security and reduce poverty in developing countries through research for efficient, safe and sustainable use of livestock. Co-hosted by Kenya and Ethiopia, it has regional or country offices and projects in East, South and Southeast Asia as well as Central, East, Southern and West Africa. ilri.org



CGIAR is a global agricultural research partnership for a food-secure future. Its research is carried out by 15 research centres in collaboration with hundreds of partner organizations. cgiar.org